1955

# J. Hensley Cottrell v. Grand Union Tea Co. and C. E. Pope : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

#### A. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant will be referred to throughout this brief as plaintiff; respondents as defendants. All italics are ours.

#### B. THE FACTS

This appeal by plaintiff is from a judgment by the Court granting defendants' motions for a directed verdict and judgment notwithstanding the verdict. Plaintiff obtained a verdict in the trial in the amount of \$2,650.00.

Plaintiff was employed by defendant, Grand Union Tea Co., as a route salesman in March of 1953 (R-42). His duties provided that he sell defendant's merchandise throughout a specified territory. Defendants furnished him with a truck to carry the merchandise (R-43). At the commencement of said employment plaintiff provided a cash bond in the sum of \$50.00 and paid an additional \$2.00 per week into his bond fund (R-43).

Plaintiff was employed until July, 1953, at which time he resigned.

On the 27th day of June, 1953, two weeks before plaintiff resigned, defendants ran an audit on plaintiff's accounts which revealed he was \$1.45 short. The shortage was not unusual and plaintiff received no complaint regarding it (R-48).

During the course of plaintiff's employment he made bi-weekly remittances. The type of remittance report used by plaintiff is shown by Exhibit 2 (R-49). The last remittance made by plaintiff on July 11, 1953, revealed a shortage of approximately \$70.00 (R-50; 167). At that time plaintiff informed defendants that the cause of his shortage was the loss of his wallet (R-52; 166).

Plaintiff left his employment believing that his cash bond in the sum of \$80.00 would come within \$16.00 of covering the shortage (R-53). Plaintiff did not hear anything further about the shortage until the 15th of November, 1953, (R-176). At that time Mr. Fives of the

Liberty Mutual Insurance Company (R-174) called at plaintiff's home. Mr. Fives did not have his records with him. Plaintiff and his wife, who was an auditor, requested an opportunity to examine the records. Mr. Fives was claiming \$40.00, but plaintiff believed he owed only \$16.00 (R-61; 128). Fives agreed to call back at a time when Mrs. Cottrell could examine the audit papers showing the shortage and determine the amount and whether same accrued in money or product (R-128-9; 175). Mr. Fives told plaintiff not to worry too much and that "he spent the biggest part of his time nailing Grand Union Employees, former employees, to the wall" (R-60)

Friday, December 4, 1953 (R-176) Fives called plaintiff on the phone and said he was coming out. Plaintiff requested he wait until his wife was home (R-61; 176). On this visit Fives stated the shortage was \$70.00 (R-62). Plaintiff and Fives had words and Fives' departing statement was, "Mr. Cottrell, they are going to make an example out of you" (R-63).

Neither plaintiff nor his wife ever had an opportunity to go over the audit with Fives (R-128-9). The first contact with the public authorities by defendants was on December 7th, 1953. Hal Taylor, deputy county attorney, held a conference with Mr. Pope, regional manager of Grand Union Tea Company. He then and there issued a complaint charging the plaintiff with the felony of embezzling money in excess of \$50.00 from Grand

Union Tea Company and Pope signed the complaint (Exhibit 9). On December 8th, 1953, at about 8:00 a.m. plaintiff was arrested at his home (R-64).

He was incarcerated in the county jail and his bond fixed at \$1500.00. Plaintiff posted bond and was released the evening of December 8th (Exhibit 11). The preliminary hearing was set for January 13th, 1954. The charge was dismissed for lack of evidence (Exhibit 11).

Plaintiff filed his action for malicious prosecution. It came on for trial May 25th, 1955. At the close of the evidence the Court submitted to the jury the following questions for answer (R-222):

#### QUESTION NO. 1

Do you find from the preponderance of the evidence that the acts of defendants in obtaining a criminal complaint for embezzlement against the plaintiff were motivated by malice, as that term is defined for you?

Answer "yes" or "no"      *yes.*

#### QUESTION NO. 2

Do you find from the preponderance of the evidence that the defendants prior to the issuance of the criminal complaint on December 7th, 1953, failed to disclose to Mr. Taylor the following:

(a) The contents of Exhibit 1. Answer "yes" or "no"      *yes.*

5

- (b) The contents of Exhibit 2. Answer “yes” or “no” *no.*
- (c) The contents of Exhibit 3. Answer “yes” or “no” *no.*
- (d) The contents of Exhibit 4. Answer “yes” or “no” *yes.*
- (e) The contents of Exhibit 5. Answer “yes” or “no” *no.*
- (f) The fact that money was held by the Company pursuant to Exhibit 4. Answer “yes” or “no” *yes.*
- (g) The amount of money held by the Company pursuant to Exhibit 4. Answer “yes” or “no” *yes.*
- (h) The fact that remittances were made by the plaintiff to the defendants by check or money order on occasions. Answer “yes” or “no” *yes.*

QUESTION NO. 3

Do you find from the preponderance of the evidence that the defendants failed to furnish or produce any information or documents requested by Mr. Taylor before the issuance of the criminal complaint on December 7th, 1953?

Answer “yes” or “no” *yes.*  
(R-222-3)

The jury answered the questions as indicated and then returned a verdict in favor of the plaintiff as follows (R-223-A).

General Damages .....	\$2,000.00
Special Damages .....	650.00
Total Verdict .....	\$2,650.00

The basis for the Court's ruling in favor of defendants' motion for directed verdict and judgment notwithstanding the verdict, as plaintiff understands them to be, was that the evidence shows without contradiction that a full, fair and complete disclosure was made by defendants to the county attorney and that in reliance upon his decision to issue a criminal complaint, defendants acted in good faith.

The Court found that there was actual malice on the part of defendants in the obtaining of the complaint (R-230). It was the Trial Court's decision that the answers to questions Nos. 2(a), 2(d), 2(f), and 2(h), and question No. 3, were not supported by any evidence (R-230). All other answers to the special interrogatories the Court found were supported by evidence.

The basic question presented by this appeal is, was there evidence to support the answers made by the jury to the enumerated questions.

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

### POINT I.

**THERE IS EVIDENCE SUPPORTING THE JURY'S FINDING THAT DEFENDANTS FAILED TO MAKE A COMPLETE DISCLOSURE TO TAYLOR BEFORE THE COMPLAINT WAS ISSUED.**

**(a) THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE FINDING THAT THE EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT WAS NOT FURNISHED TAYLOR BEFORE DECEMBER 7TH, 1953.**

(b) THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE FINDING THAT THE CASH BOND WAS NOT DELIVERED TO TAYLOR BEFORE DECEMBER 7TH, 1953.

(c) THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE FINDING THAT THE FACT THAT A SUM OF MONEY WAS WITHHELD BY DEFENDANTS PURSUANT TO THE CASH BOND WAS NOT REVEALED TO TAYLOR BEFORE DECEMBER 7TH, 1953.

(d) THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE FINDING THAT THE FACT THAT REMITTANCES WERE MADE BY PLAINTIFF TO DEFENDANT THROUGH HIS PERSONAL CHECK OR MONEY ORDER WAS NOT DISCLOSED TO TAYLOR BEFORE DECEMBER 7TH, 1953.

(e) THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE FINDING THAT THE DEFENDANTS DID NOT FURNISH ALL INFORMATION OR DOCUMENTS REQUESTED BY TAYLOR BEFORE DECEMBER 7TH, 1953.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I.

THERE IS EVIDENCE SUPPORTING THE JURY'S FINDING THAT DEFENDANTS FAILED TO MAKE A COMPLETE DISCLOSURE TO TAYLOR BEFORE THE COMPLAINT WAS ISSUED.

The Court in the findings of fact found that a full disclosure of all material facts bearing on the prosecution of plaintiff for embezzlement had been made by defendants to the Salt Lake County Attorney, and that defendants acted upon the advice given them by the county attorney and honestly and in good faith signed the criminal complaint. He also found that probable cause existed for the issuance of the complaint.

In paragraph two of his findings the Court found that in the findings of the jury defendants were motivated by malice in the obtaining of the criminal complaint, was supported by evidence. It is submitted that the findings of fact in and of themselves are contradictory and reveal that the Trial Court made a mistake of law in finding that a criminal complaint which was obtained as a result of malice could be at the same time honestly and in good faith signed.

If malice existed, it is plaintiff's position it permeated all of the activities of defendants and they could not act in good faith nor honestly in seeking a criminal complaint against him.

The Trial Court findings, which are consistent with the jury findings of the existence of malice, it is respectfully requested must be considered in weighing the question of whether or not there is evidence which supports the other jury findings concerning the documents furnished to Taylor and the information disclosed to him before he issued the complaint.

It must be kept clearly in mind that after the complaint was issued a large amount of information was furnished to Taylor, but the crucial date as far as the plaintiff is concerned, is December 7th, 1953. After Taylor had all of the information he dismissed the complaint for lack of evidence. When he had only a part of the evidence, he issued the complaint against plaintiff.

It is respectfully submitted that the record in this case reveals that Taylor after a complete disclosure dismissed the complaint against plaintiff for lack of evidence (Ex. 11). The crucial question presented is when was a full disclosure made to Taylor?

(a) THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE FINDING THAT THE EMPLOYMENT CONTRACT WAS NOT FURNISHED TAYLOR BEFORE DECEMBER 7TH, 1953.

The route salesman's contract is Exhibit I. The jury found in answer to question 2(a), that it was not furnished Taylor before December 7th, 1953. This document was delivered to Taylor by Pope at some time after his first visit to Taylor's office. Pope testified that he visited Taylor on two occasions only. That his visits were four or five days apart (R-17). The first visit, it is established, occurred on the 7th day of December, 1953 (R-182). On that visit Pope delivered to Taylor the following documents (R-18):

- (1) Remittance Report, Exhibit 2.
- (2) Auditor's Report, Exhibit 3.
- (3) Shortage Statement by defendants, Exhibit 5.

Taylor testified that he received Exhibits 2 and 5 on Pope's first visit (R-141).

The memories of Pope and Taylor concerning the date of the first visit by Pope to Taylor, are hazy. However, on the first visit Pope was accompanied by Fives,

and Fives had written reports which established the date of the visit beyond doubt (R-182).

Fives had been to the home of plaintiff on the 4th of December and left the home with the closing statement, "we intend to make an example out of you."

December 4th was a Friday; Pope obtained from Alonzo W. Watson a letter of probable cause. This letter, Exhibit 10, was dated the 7th of December, 1953. The letter was in hand when Pope and Fives visited Taylor on the first occasion (R-182). The complaint was issued on Monday the 7th of December, 1953. Plaintiff was arrested on the early morning of December 8th. From the evidence of defendants it thus appears that the answers made by the jury are supported by evidence. Even counsel for defendants on the 7th of December had not been furnished a copy of the contract of employment. His letter, Exhibit 10, paragraph 2, states "the files do not disclose a sales contract existing between the employee, J. H. Cottrell, and your Company."

The contents of the contract of employment are of the utmost importance and would be the basic document which must be considered in determining the relationship existing between plaintiff and defendants. The evidence revealed that there were material deviations from the terms of the contract and before an intelligent decision could be made as to whether or not there existed probable cause for the issuance of a criminal complaint, the

exact terms of the contract of employment must be understood, and any deviations in practice from said terms would necessarily have to be discussed. It is submitted that deviations from the exact terms of the employment contract could not be discussed without examination of the exact terms of the employment contract.

It is useless to speculate as to what course Taylor would have taken had he had Exhibit I before him December 7th, 1953, before he issued the criminal complaint. It might even be that counsel for defendant, Alonzo W. Watson would not have written the letter of probable cause had he been afforded an opportunity to examine the sales contract between plaintiff and defendant. What is of the most crucial importance is that the failure of defendants to furnish Taylor the employment contract, Exhibit I, proves that a complete disclosure was not made to him before he issued the criminal complaint.

Without a complete, accurate and full understanding of the contents of the contract of employment, Exhibit I, Taylor could only rely upon the memory of Pope as to that document's contents. It is respectfully submitted that Taylor did rely upon the memory of Pope as to the employment contract and that there was not a complete disclosure of all material facts by Pope before the issuance of the criminal complaint.

It is respectfully submitted that the evidence supports the jury's findings that on December 7th defendants failed to disclose to Taylor the contents of Exhibit I.

(b) THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE FINDING THAT THE CASH BOND WAS NOT DELIVERED TO TAYLOR BEFORE DECEMBER 7TH, 1953.

When plaintiff was first employed by defendant it was required of him that he furnish a cash bond. This cash bond amounts to and is a document reciting that plaintiff has paid over and deposited with defendant the sum of \$50.00. The cash bond document also provides that plaintiff shall permit the deduction from his weekly earnings an additional sum of \$2.00 per week, until the total amount of deposit amounts to \$250.00. The cash bond agreement is Exhibit 4. The jury found that Exhibit 4 or its contents were not disclosed to Taylor by defendants before the criminal complaint was issued. By the time plaintiff's employment was terminated there had been paid into defendants an additional \$30.00 and there was on deposit therefore the sum of \$80.00 (R-28).

The evidence concerning the date on which Taylor received both the contract of employment and the cash bond agreement seems to be undisputed. Taylor himself testified that he requested Pope on his first visit to furnish the contract of employment and the employees bond agreement and that these documents were brought to his office by Pope some time after the first visit (R-142). From our discussion of the crucial dates contained in Point I (a), the Court is well aware that the second visit of Pope occurred some time after the 7th of December, the date on which the criminal complaint was issued. The testimony of Taylor concerning the bond is very revealing:

“By Mr. King: (R-152)

“Q. Did they tell you the amount of money Mr. Cottrell had accumulated in their Company, to send against any shortages?

“A. Yes.”

“Q. They told you that was \$80.00?”

“A. I don’t recall the figure, but I remember discussing the matter with them as to what was there. And I recall they told me he made some sort of a weekly withdrawal for the time he had been in the Company, or each time a certain amount was taken out, and I remember discussing the matter, but I don’t remember what the amount was.”

Had Taylor the bond before him on December 7th, he could have determined the amount of plaintiff’s cash bond, for he knew of plaintiff’s termination date (R-160).

In regard to this cash reserve built up by plaintiff, Pope testified that said sum was applied to the plaintiff’s shortage (R-38).

This information was not passed on to Taylor for he in giving his considerate opinion determined (R-158) that the approximate sum of \$70.00 had been embezzled (Exhibit 2, plaintiff’s Remittance Report). Nowhere or at any time did Taylor consider or know that the \$80.00 bond had been applied to the shortage of plaintiff’s funds. He considered the bond money as an entirely separate entity still in existence (R-159).

The employees cash bond, Exhibit 4, with the contract of employment, Exhibit 1, clearly reveals that defendants did not consider plaintiff as the custodian or trustee of the funds or property which he had in his possession. The bond reveals that defendants recognized that shortages would create an indebtedness on the part of the employee to defendants. The cash bond provides as follows: (Paragraph three.)

“It is further mutually understood and agreed that in the event any shortage or other indebtedness of the employee to the Company shall be disclosed by any audit that shall be made of the accounts of the employee at any time, the employee will accept as final any statement based upon such audit showing the amount of such shortage or other indebtedness and that no other or further proof shall be required to fix the existence or amount of such shortage or other indebtedness.”

Could Taylor have had any doubt in his mind about the existence of a debtor-creditor relationship between plaintiff and defendant had there been disclosed to him the terms of the employees cash bond, Exhibit 4, before he issued the complaint on December 7, 1953? Could his state of mind have been, as it was revealed to the Court in the following exchange:

“By the Court:

“Q. I am trying to determine what information they gave you that led you to the conclusion that the crime had been committed?

“A. Well, I think my thinking about it was, your Honor, that there was, — I had discussed — we generally discussed in the office — that the posting of the bond in the form that it was posted, did not excuse or could be offset against the taking of funds that, under the terms of the contract, he was still the custodian. He was still required to remit to the Company the amounts he collected, and then, if there were an eventual shortage, after he remitted to the Company, that, the Company could go against the bond to protect themselves.” (R-159)

It is respectfully submitted that the evidence is substantially without conflict that Taylor did not receive the employee's cash bond, Exhibit 4, prior to the time that he issued the criminal complaint, nor did he ever have accurate, complete and fair information concerning its content. The only way that such information could be furnished is by defendants furnishing a copy of the employee's cash bond, Exhibit 4. There can be no doubt that this evidence would justify the jury in answering question 2 (d) “yes” when asked if defendant failed to disclose to Taylor the contents of Exhibit 4 prior to the issuance of the criminal complaint.

**(c) THE EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE FINDING THAT THE FACT THAT A SUM OF MONEY WAS WITHHELD BY DEFENDANTS PURSUANT TO THE CASH BOND WAS NOT REVEALED TO TAYLOR BEFORE DECEMBER 7TH, 1953.**

Under the terms of Exhibit 4, employee's cash bond, plaintiff permitted defendants to deduct from his weekly

earnings the sum of \$2.00. These weekly deductions had increased the amount of the original cash deposited from \$50.00 to \$80.00. Under the terms of the employee's cash bond, defendants were entitled to use this sum to off-set any amount of shortages or other indebtedness and when it did so use the amount of the employee's cash bond to off-set shortages or other indebtedness, the amount of the total claimed shortage would be only \$48.00. The fact that the application of the \$80.00 sum to the shortages shown by defendants' audits reduced the shortage to \$48.00, a sum less than the amount which the embezzlement complaint charged was embezzled, can be used by the jury as evidence that Taylor did not know of the existence of the \$80.00 figure, and did not know that said sum could be applied to the shortages to determine the amount of indebtedness between plaintiff and defendants. This evidence alone, it is respectfully submitted, would justify the jury answering question 2 (f) with a "yes."

In addition, however, Pope was asked to relate all of his conversations with Taylor before the criminal complaint was issued and his narrative fails to mention the fact that he informed Taylor of the money which was being held by defendant under the terms of Exhibit 4, the employee's cash bond (R-22). Not only did Pope fail to mention the fact that they had the sum of \$80.00 which belonged to plaintiff, but he did not tell Taylor,

according to his own evidence, that Grand Union could, did, or had applied the sum to reduce the amount of the indebtedness from plaintiff to defendants (R-38).

Again, we note that in the letter of probable cause Mr. Watson makes no mention of any employee's cash bond or any sum held by defendants to apply against shortages or other indebtedness. A reading of the letter of probable cause would leave one with the impression that plaintiff was short in his accounts a sum of \$127.03 and that there was no off-set or other sum in existence which would reduce this amount of shortage or other indebtedness.

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