1955

J. Hensley Cottrell v. Grand Union Tea Co. and C. E. Pope : Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE EVIDENCE ESTABLISHES THAT DEFENDANTS ACTED HONESTLY AND IN GOOD FAITH AND MADE A FULL AND FAIR DISCLOSURE OF ALL MATERIAL FACTS KNOWN TO THEM CONCERNING THE VIOLATION OF CRIMINAL LAW BY PLAINTIFF TO SALT LAKE COUNTY ATTORNEY, AND THAT DEFENDANT POPE ACTED ON ADVICE OF SAID ATTORNEY IN SIGNING THE COMPLAINT.

(a) ALL OF THE EVIDENCE WAS PRESENTED PRIOR TO ISSUANCE AND SIGNING OF COMPLAINT CHARGING EMBEZZLEMENT.

(b) PROBABLE CAUSE IS DETERMINABLE BY THE COURT AS A MATTER OF LAW WHERE EVIDENCE IS CLEAR AND UNCONTRADICTED.

The detailed statement of facts herein given by defendants establishes that the evidence is clear, concise and undisputed that defendant Pope, as the local manager of defendant Grand Union Company, honestly and in good faith made a full, fair and honest disclosure of all the material facts known to him to Mr. Taylor, Deputy County Attorney. Mr. Taylor's testimony is likewise definite, clear and undisputed that Mr. Pope furnished all documents required, and made full explanation of all transactions between plaintiff and defendant Company, prior to his determination that there was probable cause to believe that Mr. Cottrell was guilty of the crime of embezzlement and his advice to Mr. Pope to this effect and the preparing of the complaint and having it signed by Mr. Pope. This was also confirmed by Mr. Fives.

What evidence is there in the record in the case contrary to Mr. Pope's and Mr. Taylor's testimony relative to a full disclosure of facts to the prosecuting attorney? We submit there is none, and since there was no other or contradictory evidence the question of probable cause was one of law to be decided by the court and the motion for a directed verdict should have been granted.

The plaintiff in his brief, page 9, states that the memories of these witnesses were hazy as to the time the visits were made by Pope and Fives to Mr. Taylor. It is this matter of dates only that can in any way show even the slightest discrepancy in defendant's evidence. And the evidence of both Pope and Taylor are unequivocal that these documents were furnished by Pope and studied and fully understood by Mr. Taylor prior to Mr. Taylor's determination that there was probable cause and Mr. Pope's signing the complaint on the opinion and advice of Mr. Taylor.

Also plaintiff's brief attempts to draw some inference from the letter of A. W. Watson on probable cause, Exhibit 10, see page 10, plaintiff's brief, stating that he, Mr. Watson, was not furnished a copy of plaintiff's contract of employment and that therefore, Mr. Taylor was not furnished said copy, which is Exhibit I. Such inference is certainly not justified as it seems more logical to assume that Mr. Watson did not have a copy of the contract because Mr. Pope was taking said copy to Mr. Taylor. Furthermore, Mr. Taylor definitely states his opinion was formed as to probable cause from his own study of the information furnished him including the employment contract and not by anything stated in Exhibit 10. Also the inference that there was a deviation from said contract as urged by plaintiff's brief to the effect that plaintiff was not accountable for collections made

can not possibly be seriously considered in the light of plaintiff's testimony that he was short in his account and his setting forth such shortage in his final report, Exhibit 2.

Plaintiff's brief also states as a bare conclusion, without setting forth any evidence in support thereof, that Mr. Taylor did not have Exhibit I before him prior to arriving at his opinion and issuing complaint against the plaintiff. This assertion is directly contrary to the positive testimony of Messrs. Pope and Taylor.

Mr. Taylor's statement that he considered the cash bond and that it had no effect on his determination that the amount not accounted for by plaintiff was \$70.00 or more and the bond could not be a setoff against this shortage, clearly proves that he had this document prior to issuance of the criminal complaint. So also is this true of the contract, because Mr. Taylor stated he had studied its provisions and discussed its terms with Mr. Pope prior to issuance of the complaint and even at the trial of the instant case remembered the paragraph discussed as to the provision for remittance by Cottrell. Against these positive statements the plaintiff's brief states that these documents were not received until after the issuance of the complaint without setting forth the evidence in support of said conclusion or inferences indulged in because of uncertainty as to dates of these conversations. Is it any wonder in light of this positive evidence, which

is uncontradicted by any other witness or testimony, that the trial judge held that the jury's answer to question numbered 2(a), 2(d), 2(f) and 2(h) and question No. 3 were not supported by the evidence.

Under such facts the cases are clear and virtually unanimous that the trial judge should render as a matter of law verdict in favor of defendants.

The following statement of the law found in Sec. 864 of 58 Am. Jur., Witness, is very persuasive as to how the courts consider evidence.

“The general rule that the credibility of a witness is for the jury does not mean that the jury or the trial judge is at liberty under the guise of passing upon the credibility of a witness, to disregard his testimony when from no reasonable point of view is it open to doubt. The jury should not needlessly impute perjury to a witness.

“It seems to be established as a general rule that when a disinterested witness, who is in no way discredited by other evidence, testifies as to a fact within his knowledge and which is not itself improbable, or in conflict with other evidence, the witness is to be believed, and especially where his testimony is fully cooperated.”

The case of *Jerke v. Delmont State Bank*, (S.D.) 223 N.W. 585, 72 A.L.R. 7 at pages 16 and 17 of 72 A.L.R. after speaking of the functions of a jury states:

“It is the theory of our law that the entire matter of a trial between parties shall be carried on in a court of justice and under the general

supervision and control of the judge thereof, and that the truth as to the facts shall be arrived at upon a consideration of the evidence and proofs presented by the respective parties in support of their respective claims. The jury, in modern law, is merely a part of the machinery of the court, and it is the part of such machinery that is made use of in proper cases for determining the truth as to the issuable facts. But we must not forget that the general superintendence and control of the court and all its machinery, including the jury, rests with the judge, and it is fundamental that an issue arising between litigants must be tried by a general, rational, or reasoning process, both as to the ascertaining of facts and the application of the law. This has been the basic theory of the common law ever since the rule of reason replaced trial by ordeal and wager of battle. The existence or nonexistence of ultimate issuable facts must be determined from the evidence produced in court, whether the determination is made by a judge or by a jury, by a process of rationalization and judgment, and by the application of the thinking faculties of the human mind to the evidence.

“We are too often prone to exaggerate the powers and privileges of a jury as a trier of facts. We frequently see the phrase, ‘It is for the Jury to say what the facts are.’ Historically speaking, this may have been true in the sixteenth century, but it has long since ceased to be true. The power and right and duty of the jury are not ‘to *say* what the facts are,’ but to adjudge and determine what the facts are by the usual and ordinary intellectual processes; that is, by applying the thinking faculties of their minds to the evidence received and the presumptions existing in the case, if any, and thereby forming an opinion or judgment. The

data is the evidence received in court, and nothing extraneous thereto should enter into the determination, except to the extent that the sum of the past experiences of any individual always and necessarily, as a matter of psychology, enters into his formation of judgment or opinion based upon any given data. Before there is anything for submission to a jury, the evidence offered as to the ultimate facts must be such that the application of normal intellectual faculties thereto might by the customary and normal processes of reasoning arrive at different judgments or conclusions. If there is not such a state of facts a verdict should properly be directed, inasmuch as any result but one would not be a reasonable result, and the direction of a verdict in a proper case is not only the right of the judge, but it is his affirmative duty, and just as much and just as proper a part of his duty as ruling upon evidence or performing any other judicial function."

The plaintiff must prove in order to sustain his complaint of malicious prosecution the following: (1) the criminal prosecution of plaintiff, (2) its procurement by defendant, (3) its termination favorable to plaintiff, (4) lack of probable cause, (5) malice in the instigation of prosecution.

The defendants maintain very strenuously that the defendants acted honestly and in good faith and made a full and fair disclosure of all material facts known to them to the prosecuting attorney and that there was no dispute as to the facts and therefore the court should have directed a verdict for defendants.

On this phase of the law it is stated in 34 Am. Jur., Section 72, Malicious Prosecution, as follows:

“It is established that if, in addition to his own belief, a defendant proves that before commencing prosecution of the criminal proceeding complained of he sought the legal advice of an officer selected by the people to prosecute offenders against laws, and in good faith fully and fairly disclosed to that officer all the information he possessed, and he was advised that a crime had been committed, the defendant has made out a complete defense to the action. This is true even though the advise may have been erroneous. It is sometimes held that advice from a public prosecuting officer makes a stronger case, and also, that such advice would be a complete defense when that of a private attorney would not. So, also, there is authority to the effect that the individual would be protected by the advice even though he may not have stated facts which he could have ascertained by reasonable diligence, the reason being that it is the duty of the public prosecutor to investigate charges of the commission of crime.”

A very thorough and exhaustive treatise of this issue is given in 10 A.L.R. 2d 1215.

Also, the defendants urgently request the court to read the recent Idaho case of *Thomas v. Hinton*, 281 P. 2d 1050. This case gives a careful review as to when the court should decide the case. The facts are analogous to the instant case to a great extent. The trial judge failed to grant a motion for a directed verdict or for judgment

notwithstanding the verdict and the appellate court reversed, directing the trial court to enter judgment notwithstanding the verdict.

At P. 1054 the case states as follows :

“* * * There being no dispute as to the facts, nor reasonable doubt concerning inferences drawn therefrom, the court properly entered judgment of nonsuit. (Cases)

“The rule would seem to be quite general that in an action for malicious prosecution the question of whether or not there was probable cause is determinable by the court as a matter of law unless there is some evidence in dispute which requires submission to the jury. (Case.)”

The rule is, when defendant leaves the matter entirely to the judgment and responsibility of the prosecuting officer after a full, fair, and honest disclosure of the facts, he is not answerable in malicious prosecution, which rule is sustained by this court in following cases :

McKenzie v. Canning, 42 U. 529, 131 P. 1172;
Sweatman v. Linton, 66 U. 208, 241 P. 309;
Uhr v. Eaton, 95 U. 309, 80 P. 2d 925;
McCall v. Kendrick, 2 U. 2d 364, 274 P. 2d 962;
Thomas v. Frost, 83 U. 207, 27 P. 2d 459;
Kennedy v. Burbidge, 54 U. 497, 183 P. 325;
Singh v. Macdonald, 55 U. 54, 188 P. 631.

The anno. in 10 A.L.R. 2d at P. 1240 states:

“But assuming, that in seeking advice of counsel, and in acting thereon, he has acted in good faith and has disclosed all the facts within his knowledge relating to the defense and the accusation, his defense of probable cause will be established even though the defendant should show at the trial other facts sufficient to secure his acquittal, which might have been ascertained by prosecuting witness, if he had made diligent inquiry therefor. It is not necessary that he shall institute an investigation of the crime itself, or seek to ascertain other facts relating to the offense, or to try to find out whether the accused has any defense to the charge. He is not required to exhaust all sources of information bearing upon the facts which have come to his knowledge, for that would be to require him to perform the office of the committing magistrate; and thus thwart the very purpose of the law in inducing him to seek its immediate vindication for crimes committed against it.”

Sweatman v. Linton, 66 U. 208, 241 P. 309 holds:

“Our court is committed to the rule that a full and fair statement to prosecuting attorney and acting upon the advice of such attorney that there was probable cause is a complete and good defense to an action for malicious prosecution unless there is some particular evidence or circumstance, or facts, which would tend to show the defendant’s disbelief in the fact that he had probable cause.”

Elmer v. Chicago N.W.R., 51 N.W. 2d 707 (Wis.):

“Criminal complaint signed by railway detective after being advised by district attorney

upon sufficient evidence to issue complaint, the detective having made a full and complete statement of the facts within his knowledge, was based upon probable cause as a matter of law notwithstanding subsequent dismissal of criminal case.”

In line with the law and the positive evidence in this case it is easy to see why the trial judge held as a matter of law that a full disclosure of all the material facts bearing on the prosecution was made by the defendants to Salt Lake County Attorney and that probable cause for the prosecution existed; and also the further finding in its opinion that the jury’s answer on special verdict as to questions 2a, 2d, 2f, and 2h and question No. 3 are not supported by the evidence.

CONCLUSION

Accordingly, it is respectfully submitted that the findings of fact and judgment herein are supported by clear, positive and uncontradicted evidence, that a full disclosure of all material facts bearing on the prosecution was made by defendants to the county attorney and that probable cause for the prosecution existed, and the Findings of Fact and Judgment of the trial court should be sustained.

POINT II.

PLAINTIFF’S CASH BOND COULD NOT BE SET OFF AGAINST SHORTAGE IN HIS ACCOUNT.

The defendants are presenting argument under Point II in order to substantiate the Deputy County Attorney's opinion even though it is unnecessary to the decision in this case according to the authorities heretofore sighted.

Plaintiff's brief under sub-section (b) of Point I starting at Page 12 again asserts that Exhibit 4, plaintiff's cash bond, was delivered by Mr. Pope to Mr. Taylor sometime after December 7, 1953. No evidence is furnished to substantiate this statement and it is made by plaintiff even though both Messrs. Pope and Taylor stated that this document was delivered to Mr. Taylor, studied, explained and analyzed by him prior to a determination as to probable cause and the signing of the criminal complaint.

Also, Mr. Taylor in his answer to questions by the court (R. 158) set out herein stated: "that he did not think Mr. Cottrell could offset the moneys he collected under the terms of his contract against his bond, and, to that extent, and for that reason, I didn't consider the amount of the bond particularly important, and don't recall exactly what the amounts were. But I do recall we had a discussion about them, and I knew he had an amount of money on deposit." That this statement and opinion is a correct statement of the law is shown by the following citation:

20 Corpus Juris, Embezzlement, Sections 50 and 51 hold:

Sec. 50 — “The fact that the embezzler offers to return or does return what he has fraudulently converted, or that he or his sureties settled with the owner, does not bar prosecution for embezzlement, the offense being complete at the time of conversion.”

Sec. 51 — “The fact that a defendant has given an indemnity bond is no defense to the prosecution for embezzlement, nor would it seem, is he *entitled to have it* taken into consideration in mitigation of his punishment.”

To the same effect is Section 56 of 18 Am. Jur., Embezzlement, which holds:

“It is no defense to embezzler that funds were appropriated in good faith under the belief that the owner was indebted to embezzler in an amount equal to or greater than, the amount taken.

“The offense is not condoned by giving collateral security.”

Also the following cases:

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